
Professionally Managed by:  
Pinnacle Consulting Group, Inc. 

550 W. Eisenhower, Loveland, CO 80537 
Phone: 970-669-3611 | FAX: 970-669-3612 

District Email: info@horizonmd.live 
District Website: www.horizonmds.org 

HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2 
NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING AND AGENDA 

Board of Directors Office Term Expiration 
David Crowder, Jr.  President & Chairperson May 2027 
Karen Voit Vice President May 2025 
Jason Rutt Secretary  May 2025 
Lisa Garcia  Treasurer  May 2025 
Victoria Partridge Asst. Secretary  May 2027 

Date:  July 10, 2024 (Wednesday) 
Time: 9:00 A.M. 
Place: MS Teams & Teleconference 

Join the meeting now  
Meeting ID: 291 572 810 386; Passcode: gAuP5n 
Dial-in by phone  
+1 720-721-3140,,517965477#; Phone conference ID: 517 965 477#

I. ADMINISTRATIVE ITEMS
A. Declaration of Quorum/Call to Order.
B. Director Disclosure of any Potential Conflicts of Interest.
C. Approval of Agenda.  (Pages 1 – 2)
D. Public Comment for Non-Agenda Items. (Limited to 3-Minutes Per Person)
E. Director Comment.

II. CONSENT AGENDA
A. Approval of Minutes – April 3, 2024, Regular Meeting.

(Pages 3 – 6)

III. DISTRICT MANAGER ITEMS
A. District Manager’s Report.  (Pages  7 – 10)

IV. CAPITAL INFRASTRUCTURE ITEMS

V. FINANCIAL ITEMS
A. Finance Manager’s Report.
B. Review Unaudited Financial Statements for the period ending March 31st, 2024.

(Pages 11 – 34)

1

Draft

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NDI2MDkyZTUtODMxNy00MzI5LWI5NzMtN2VmZjYzMDc5YmJh%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2295d90e40-ea92-4b9b-bab0-f6f9c6fe1c1d%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%2284dce002-0dc2-473e-a6ab-17aa03af6a63%22%7d
tel:+17207213140,,517965477


Professionally Managed by:  
Pinnacle Consulting Group, Inc. 

550 W. Eisenhower, Loveland, CO 80537 
Phone: 970-669-3611 | FAX: 970-669-3612 

District Email: info@horizonmd.live 
District Website: www.horizonmds.org 

C. Review and Consider Approval of 2023 Audited Financial Statements.  
(To Be Distributed Under Separate Cover) 

 
VI. LEGAL ITEMS 

 
VII. DIRECTOR COMMENT 

 
VIII. EXECUTIVE SESSION – If necessary, pursuant to pursuant to § 24-6-402(4)(b), C.R.S. 

for the purpose of receiving legal advice on specific legal questions. 
 

IX. ADJOURNMENT 
 

***The next Regular Meeting is scheduled for October 2, 2024*** 
 

2

Draft



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

1 

Horizon Metropolitan District No. 2 
Regular Meeting Minutes 2024 04 03 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 

HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2  

HELD 

April 3, 2024 

The Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of Horizon Metropolitan District No. 2 was held 

via MS Teams and Teleconference on Wednesday, April 3, 2024, at 9:00 a.m. 

ATTENDANCE Directors in Attendance: 

David Crowder Jr., President & Chairperson 

Karen Voit, Vice President  

Jason Rutt, Secretary 

Lisa Garcia, Treasurer 

Victoria Partridge, Asst. Secretary  

Also in Attendance:  

Alan Pogue and Deborah Early; Icenogle Seaver Pogue, P.C.   

Kenny Parish, Jenna Pettit, Wendy McFarland, Irene Buenavista, Christy 

McCutchen, and Daryl Fields; Pinnacle Consulting Group, Inc.  

Several Members of the Public. 

__________ 

ADMINISTRATIVE 

ITEMS 

Declaration of Quorum/Call to Order: Director Crowder Jr. noted that a 

quorum was present, with five out of five Directors in attendance. All 

Board Members confirmed their qualifications to serve on the Board.  

Director Qualifications/Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest: Mr. 

Pogue noted that notices of potential conflicts of interest for all Board 

Members were filed with the Colorado Secretary of State’s office and 

with the District’s Board.  Mr. Pogue advised the Board that pursuant to 

Colorado law, certain disclosures by the Board Members might be 

required prior to taking official action at a meeting.  The Board reviewed 

the agenda for the meeting, following which each Board Member present 

confirmed the contents of the written disclosures previously made stating 

the fact and summary nature of any matters as required under Colorado 

law to permit official action to be taken at the meeting.  Additionally, the 

Board determined that the participation of the members present was 

necessary to obtain a quorum or otherwise enable the Board to act.   

Approval of Agenda: The Board considered the approval of the agenda. 

Following review and discussion, upon a motion duly made by Director 

Rutt, seconded by Director Garcia, and upon vote, unanimously carried, 

it was  

3

Draft



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

2 

Horizon Metropolitan District No. 2 
Regular Meeting Minutes 2024 04 03 

RESOLVED to approve the agenda, as presented. 

Public Comment: There were no Public Comments received. 

Director Comment: There were no Director Comments received. 

__________ 

CONSENT AGENDA Mr. Parish reviewed the items on the consent agenda with the Board. Mr. 

Parish advised the Board that any item may be removed from the consent 

agenda to the regular agenda upon the request of any Director. No items 

were requested to be removed from the consent agenda. Upon a motion 

duly made by Director Rutt, Seconded by Director Garcia, the following 

items on the consent agenda were unanimously approved, ratified and 

adopted: 

A. Approval of Minutes – December 6, 2023, Special Meeting.

__________ 

FINANCIAL ITEMS Finance Manager’s Report: Ms. McFarland presented the Finance 

Manager’s Report to the Board and answered questions. 

Financial Statements: Ms. McFarland reviewed the unaudited Financial 

Statements for the period ending December 31, 2023, with the Board and 

answered questions. Following review and discussion, upon a motion 

duly made by Director Garcia, seconded by Director Rutt, and upon vote, 

unanimously carried, it was  

RESOLVED to accept the unaudited Financial Statements for the 

period ending December 31, 2023, as presented.  

2023 Audit Engagement Letter for District No. 2: Ms. McFarland 

presented the 2023 Audit Engagement Letter for District No. 2 to the 

Board and answered questions. Following review and discussion, upon a 

motion duly made by Director Garcia, seconded by Director Rutt, and 

upon vote, unanimously carried, it was  

RESOLVED to ratify the 2023 Audit Engagement Letter for 

District No. 2, as presented.  

__________ 

LEGAL ITEMS District Website Accessibility Resolution: Mr. Pogue presented the 

District Website Accessibility Resolution to the Board and answered 

questions. Mr. Parish noted plans to implement a new district website 

before July 1st. Mr. Pogue requested the current website remain active 

until the new website is accessible. Following further review and 

4

Draft



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

3 

Horizon Metropolitan District  No. 2 
Regular Meeting Minutes 2024 04 03 

discussion, upon a motion duly made by Director Rutt, seconded by 

Director Garcia, and upon vote, unanimously carried, it was  

RESOLVED to approve the District Website Accessibility 

Resolution, as presented.  

__________ 

DISTRICT MANAGER 

ITEMS 

District Manager Report: Mr. Parish presented the District Manager’s 

Report to the Board and answered questions.  

Operations and Maintenance Report: Mr. Parish presented the Operations 

and Maintenance Report to the Board and answered questions. 

July 3, 2024, Board Meeting date and Annual Meeting & Budget Hearing 

date in November: Mr. Parish discussed the July 3, 2024, Board Meeting 

date and Annual Meeting & Budget Hearing date in November with the 

Board and answered questions. It was the decision of the Board to change 

the July 3, 2024 Board Meeting date to July 10, 2024, and to hold the 

Annual Meeting & Budget Hearing on November 6, 2024.  

2025 Budget Process and Timelines: Mr. Parish discussed the 2025 

Budget Process and Timelines with the Board and answered questions.  

Alley-way Repairs and Timeline: Mr. Fields discussed the Alley-way 

Repairs and Timeline with the Board and answered questions.  

__________ 

DIRECTOR 

ITEMS 

There were no Director Matters to come before the Board. 

__________ 

OTHER 

MATTERS 

Mr. Navik requested a Public Comment section at the end of the agenda 

for future meetings, and Mr. Pogue responded. Director Crowder Jr. 

suggested that the public be allowed to make comments following each 

agenda item.  

Mr. Navik requested access to the board meeting packet before the 

meetings. Director Crowder Jr. requested that the board meeting packets 

be posted on the district’s website for public access before the meetings. 

Mr. Navik requested clarification regarding Pinnacle’s response time for 

resident communications. Ms. McCutchen noted a 24-hour response time 

for all communications received via phone, email, or through the 

District’s website.  

5

Draft



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

4 

Horizon Metropolitan District No. 2 
Regular Meeting Minutes 2024 04 03 

Director Crowder Jr. inquired about the Community Management plan 

for site visits, and Ms. McCutchen responded, noting bi-weekly site visits.  

Mr. Navik requested the district website be updated to reflect Mr. Fields 

as the site manager.  

Director Partridge inquired about Mr. Fields’ schedule regarding site 

visits. Mr. Fields told the Board he would do weekly site visits through 

October.  

Mr. Navik noted issues with sidewalks and streets throughout the 

community, specifically 9th Ave, and the native area on the District's north 

side with damage and industrial waste. Mr. Field responded and noted he 

would coordinate with the installation crew to sweep and clean the areas 

of concern.  

__________ 

ADJOURNMENT There being no further business to come before the Boards, the meeting 

was adjourned at 9:48 a.m. 

__________ 

The foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of the minutes of the 

above-referenced meeting. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Kenny Parrish, Recording Secretary for the Meeting 

6

Draft



Horizon Metropolitan District 
c/o Pinnacle Consulting Group, Inc. 

Main office located at 550 W. Eisenhower Blvd., Loveland, CO 80537 
Phone: 970-617-2470 

Email: info@horizonmd.live 
Serving our clients and community through excellent dependable service. 

 

 
 
To:   Horizon Metropolitan District Board of Directors 
From:   Pinnacle Consulting Group, Inc. 
Subject:  Managers’ Report 
Board Meeting Date: July 10, 2024 
 
 
General District Matters 
 

• Primary Contact: Please contact Kenny Parrish, District Manager, at Kennyp@pcgi.com or for any 
District matters which include operations, Board of Directors relations, financial management, 
compliance, and constituent relations. 
 

• Client Service Team:  As you work with Pinnacle, you will learn that we are interested in building 
lasting relationships with our clients.  Our past experiences will benefit the district as projects are 
managed with efficiency in mind utilizing our highly effective tools and processes.  We will be working 
directly with the boards to ensure that the community standards are met and assist the board in fulfilling 
its vision for the District.  If you would like to find out more about us, and our company values, please 
visit our website at www.pcgi.com. 

 

 
• Management & Administration Updates & Activities:  

o The District transition to PCGI was initiated on February 1st.  Since that time, we have received 
historical documents and assumed all management responsibilities.  Key areas are: 

o Overall District Management and Compliance. 

Horizon MD

Board of Directors

Kenny Parrish

District Manager

kennyp@pcgi.com

Andrew Kunkel

Sr. District Administrator

andrewk@pcgi.com

Irene Buenavista

AD Finance 

ireneb@pcgi.com

Wendy McFarland
Accounting Manager
wendym@pcgi.com

Daryl Fields

Sr. Facilities manager

darylf@pcgi.com

Christy McCutchen

Community Manager

christym@pcgi.com

Shannon McEvoy
Director of M&A                                         

shannonm@pcgi.com

Alan Pogue

Attorney
Icenogle Seaver Pogue

7

Draft

http://www.pcgi.com/


Horizon Metropolitan District 
c/o Pinnacle Consulting Group, Inc. 

Main office located at 550 W. Eisenhower Blvd., Loveland, CO 80537 
Phone: 970-617-2470 

Email: info@horizonmd.live 
Serving our clients and community through excellent dependable service. 

 

o Monthly reporting and payables. 
o District Operations & Maintenance including contractor oversight. 
o Community Management and Resident Communications. 

 
• Key Meeting Dates and Information:  The District Management Team has met with Board 

Representatives regularly in advance of today’s board meeting.  There have been robust discussions about 
expectations, vendor performance and sharing of historical information. 

• Continuation of the developer coordination calls are paramount to our collective success.   Onsite 
inspections and contractor oversight happen weekly and can expand as the needs of the District continue 
to evolve. These inspections ensure quality of work, maximize curb appeal, minimize plant loss, and help 
reduce operational costs.  

• Key action items discussed at the last meeting have been accomplished, such as concrete replacement in 
targeted alley way and enhanced dog park maintenance. 

• The Community Garden has been activated.  Your team met with interested residents, completed Garden 
Rules, Created Signage and facilitated operations.   

• Contractor accountability is heavily stressed.  We are actively working through concerns with our 
Landscape Maintenance provider. 

• There has been on-going communication with the CoHere team regarding the newsletter content and 
distribution.   

• The Park-A-Palooza event is scheduled for August 10th.  The vendors have been contracted and planning 
is in full-swing. 
 

 
• Website Updates: The District website has been migrated to a new platform, Streamline, on July 1st.  

This was primarily due to enhanced ADA compliance guidelines and to ensure compliance.  There are 
still several updates to be made, and the end result will be a website that is informative, compliant and 
easy to use. 

 
 

• Compliance Matters: Annually, District Management ensures the District meets required statutory 
responsibilities and tracks compliance accordingly. 

Compliance Matters Responsible Due Date Completion Date 
File Boundary Map PCGI 01/01/24 Completed 
Post Transparency Notice PCGI 01/15/24 Completed 
File Certified Copy of Adopted 
Budget PCGI 01/30/24 Completed 

Renew SDA Membership PCGI 03/01/24 Completed 
File Audit Exemptions PCGI 03/31/24 Completed 
Submit Audit to Governing Board PCGI 06/30/24 Pending 
Abide by Website Accessibility 
Standards PCGI 07/01/24 Completed 

File Audit PCGI 07/30/24  
File Annual Report PCGI 10/01/24  
Draft 2025 Budgets Distributed to 
Board of Directors PCGI 10/15/24  

Renew Property & Liability Insurance PCGI 12/01/24  

8

Draft



Horizon Metropolitan District 
c/o Pinnacle Consulting Group, Inc. 

Main office located at 550 W. Eisenhower Blvd., Loveland, CO 80537 
Phone: 970-617-2470 

Email: info@horizonmd.live 
Serving our clients and community through excellent dependable service. 

 

Certify Mill Levies PCGI 12/15/24  
Adopt Budget PCGI 12/31/24  
Ensure Website Compliance PCGI 12/31/24  
Payables PCGI/Board Monthly Sent to Board third week of the month 

 
 
Operations & Maintenance Updates & Activities 
 

• General Operations Notes: 
o Alleyway repair solutions have been completed.  Phase 1 
o Dog park and dog waste management is provided by the Brightview team.  Services are 

conducted weekly, and we continue to seek the community’s help to clean up after their pets.  
o Tree inventory has been conducted. 
o Enhanced accountability has been placed on the Landscape Contractor.  There have been some 

historical challenges, and we are currently evaluating options. 
o Lighting in the courtyard areas has been addressed.  There were several footings that needed to 

be replaced. 
o Storm drain maintenance has been completed. 
o There have been several areas in the District where manicured turf has had challenges due to 

irrigation issues.  These have been addressed and improvements are visible.  The hill on the 
North Side of the Community Park will be resodded. 
 

              
 

Community Management Updates & Activities 
 

• Phone and Email Communications: 
o In order for our team to manage the structure and budget allocation adopted by the District, all 

emails and voicemails are checked daily by team members and responded to or elevated for a 
response from management if necessary.  

o The District has sent out ten email blasts to the community in 2024.  
o The District has received 147 incoming calls year to date.  The top reasons for calls are listed 

below: 
 Billing information. 
 Login information for the website 
 General information on District-new owners 

 
• Covenant Inspections: 

o Covenant inspections for the District occur bi-monthly. There were 105 violation letters issued in 
2024. The top reasons for violation letters were as follows: 
 Trash cans 
 Cars parked in the alley 
 Maintenance of property- weeds and dry grass 

• Design Review Coordination: 
o The District’s management team has received 18 homeowner applications YTD in 2024.  

Typically, applications are reviewed within 7-10 business days.  
 
 
 

9

Draft



Horizon Metropolitan District 
c/o Pinnacle Consulting Group, Inc. 

Main office located at 550 W. Eisenhower Blvd., Loveland, CO 80537 
Phone: 970-617-2470 

Email: info@horizonmd.live 
Serving our clients and community through excellent dependable service. 

 

 
 

• Homeowner Closings: 
o The District’s management team processed 52 homeowner closings YTD. This includes all sales, 

including from developer to builder, builder to owner, and owner to owner. 
 

 
• Update on Lot Closings and Collection of Fees: 

o Operation Fees: On June 1st, the Management Team billed trash and stormwater 
maintenance fees. There was a total of 205 homes billed for trash for a total of 
$17,220.  There was a total of 59 homes billed for stormwater maintenance for a total of 
$4,425. 

10

Draft



HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2023

ARAPAHOE COUNTY, COLORADO

DRAFT

11

Draft



i

Statement of net position 1
Statement of activities 2

Balance sheets - governmental funds 3
Statements of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances - governmental funds 4

5

6
Notes to financial statements 7

19

Fund financial statements

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Independent auditor's report

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Government-wide financial statements

Reconciliation of the statements of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances of
governmental funds to the statement of activities
General fund - statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance (budget and
actual)

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Debt service fund - schedule of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance (budget and
actual)

DRAFT

12

Draft



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Horizon Metropolitan District No. 2
Board of Directors

Arapahoe County, Colorado

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities and each major fund
of Horizon Metropolitan District No. 2 ("District") as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District's basic financial statements
as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities and each major fund of the District as of December 31, 2023,
the respective changes in financial position, and the budgetary comparison for the general fund for the year
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of the report. We are required to be independent of the District
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to
our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes

              

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the District's ability to continue as a
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
BiggsKofford, P.C. • Member AICPA

630 Southpointe Court, Suite 200 • Colorado Springs, CO 80906 • (719) 579-9090 • www.biggskofford.com

DRAFT

13

Draft



•

•

•

•

•

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate,
they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, we:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the District’s basic financial statements. The supplementary information, as identified in the table of
contents, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial

              

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Management has omitted management’s discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board which considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. Our
opinions on the basic financial statements are not affected by this missing information.

Supplementary Information

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the District's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about the District's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period
of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters
that we identified during the audit.

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
BiggsKofford, P.C. • Member AICPA

630 Southpointe Court, Suite 200 • Colorado Springs, CO 80906 • (719) 579-9090 • www.biggskofford.com

DRAFT

14

Draft



DRAFT ONLY, NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION
Colorado Springs, Colorado

statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

[REPORT DATE PENDING]

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
BiggsKofford, P.C. • Member AICPA

630 Southpointe Court, Suite 200 • Colorado Springs, CO 80906 • (719) 579-9090 • www.biggskofford.com

DRAFT

15

Draft



Cash and investments 1,222$             
Cash and investments - restricted 377                  
Receivable from County Treasurer 3,805               
Property taxes receivable 1,115               
Due from District No. 1 5,454               
Due from District No. 3 102                  

Total assets 12,075             

LIABILITIES
Due to City of Aurora 2,011               
Due to District No. 1 1,778               
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due in more than one year 27,072,377      

Total liabilities 27,076,166      

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred property taxes 1,115               

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,115               

NET POSITION
Restricted for:

Emergency reserve 4,300               
Unrestricted (27,069,506)     

Total net position (27,065,206)$   

ASSETS 

HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2023

Governmental 
Activities

The accompanying notes and independent auditor's report
should be read with these financial statements.

1

DRAFT

16

Draft



FUNCTIONS / PROGRAMS
Primary government

Government activities:
General government 141,129$         -$                 -$                 -$                 (141,129)$        
Interest and related costs on long-term debt 1,190,434        -                   -                   -                   (1,190,434)       

Total government activities 1,331,563$      -$                 -$                 -$                 (1,331,563)       

GENERAL REVENUES
Property taxes 1,162               
Property taxes - ARI 19                    
Property taxes - TIF 702,340           
Property taxes - TIF - ARI 11,592             
Specific ownership taxes 34,079             
Specific ownership taxes - ARI 562                  
Investment income 9,378               
Transfers from District No. 3 5,461               

Total general revenues 764,593           

Change in net position (566,970)          

Net position, beginning of year (26,498,236)     

Net position, end of year (27,065,206)$   

Program Revenues

HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Net 
(Expenses) 

Revenues and 
Changes in 
Net Position

Charges for 
Services

Operating 
Grants and 

Contributions

Capital Grants 
and 

Contributions
Governmental 

ActivitiesExpenses

The accompanying notes and independent auditor's report
should be read with these financial statements.

2

DRAFT

17

Draft



ASSETS 
Cash and investments 1,222$             -$                 1,222$             
Cash and investments - restricted -                   377                  377                  
Receivable from County Treasurer 665                  3,140               3,805               
Property taxes receivable 249                  866                  1,115               
Due from District No. 1 953                  4,501               5,454               
Due from District No. 3 -                   102                  102                  
Due from other funds 951                  -                   951                  

Total assets 4,040$             8,986$             13,026$           

LIABILITIES
Due to City of Aurora 2,011$             -$                 2,011$             
Due to District No. 1 1,778               -                   1,778               
Due to other funds -                   951                  951                  

Total liabilities 3,789               951                  4,740               

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred property taxes 249                  866                  1,115               

Total deferred inflows of resources 249                  866                  1,115               

FUND BALANCES
Restricted for:

Debt service 4,300               7,169               11,469             
Emergency reserve

Unassigned:
Unrestricted (4,298)              -                   (4,298)              

Total fund balances 2                      7,169               7,171               

4,040$             8,986$             

(25,247,000)     
(1,825,377)       

(27,065,206)$   

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not
reported in the funds:

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and fund
balances

Bonds payable
Bonds payable accrued interest

Net position of governmental activities

Amounts reported in governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:

HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2
BALANCE SHEETS - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

DECEMBER 31, 2023

Total 
Governmental 

Funds
Debt Service 

Fund General Fund 

The accompanying notes and independent auditor's report
should be read with these financial statements.

3

DRAFT

18

Draft



REVENUES
Property taxes 203$                959$                1,162$             
Property taxes - ARI 19                    -                   19                    
Property taxes - TIF 122,716           579,624           702,340           
Property taxes - TIF - ARI 11,592             -                   11,592             
Specific ownership taxes 5,954               28,125             34,079             
Specific ownership taxes - ARI 562                  -                   562                  
Investment income 70                    9,308               9,378               
Transfers from District No. 3 -                   5,461               5,461               

Total revenues 141,116           623,477           764,593           

Current:
County Treasurer fees 3                      15                    18                    
Transfers to District No. 1 128,938           -                   128,938           
Transfer to City of Aurora 12,173             -                   12,173             

Debt service:
Bond interest payments -                   624,169           624,169           

Total expenditures 141,114           624,184           765,298           

Net change in fund balances 2                      (707)                 (705)                 

Fund balances, beginning of year -                   7,876               7,876               

Fund balances, end of year 2$                    7,169$             7,171$             

EXPENDITURES

HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

General Fund 
Debt Service 

Fund 

Total 
Governmental 

Funds

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
- GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The accompanying notes and independent auditor's report
should be read with these financial statements.

4

DRAFT

19

Draft



(705)$               

Bond interest payments 624,169           

Accrued interest on bonds payable (1,190,434)       

(566,970)$        

The issuance of long-term debt (such as bonds, leases, and developer advances)
provides current financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of long-
term debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds. Neither
transaction, however, has any effect on net position. Also, governmental funds report the
effect of premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these
amounts are deferred and amortized in the statement of activities.

Change in net position

Net change in fund balances

HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND 
BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Some items in the statement of activities do not provide or require the use of current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental
funds.

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different
because:

The accompanying notes and independent auditor's report
should be read with these financial statements.

5

DRAFT

20

Draft



Actual Variance
REVENUES
Property taxes 204$                991$                203$                (788)$               
Property taxes - ARI 19                    92                    19                    (73)                   
Property taxes - TIF 89,306             123,110           122,716           (394)                 
Property taxes - TIF - ARI 8,436               9,788               11,592             1,804               
Specific ownership taxes 5,452               5,964               5,954               (10)                   
Specific ownership taxes - ARI 515                  515                  562                  47                    
Investment income -                   -                   70                    70                    
Other revenue 5,000               5,540               -                   (5,540)              

Total revenues 108,932           146,000           141,116           (4,884)              

EXPENDITURES
County Treasurer fees 4                      65                    3                      62                    
Transfers to District No. 1 94,958             130,000           128,938           1,062               
Transfer to City of Aurora 8,970               10,395             12,173             (1,778)              
Contingency 5,000               5,540               -                   5,540               

Total expenditures 108,932           146,000           141,114           4,886               

Excess of revenues over expenditures -                   -                   2                      2                      

Fund balance, beginning of year -                   

Fund balance, end of year 2$                    

Final Budget
Original 
Budget

GENERAL FUND - STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
(BUDGET AND ACTUAL)

HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

The accompanying notes and independent auditor's report
should be read with these financial statements.

6

DRAFT

21

Draft



1.

2. 

HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023

The District follows Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") accounting pronouncements which provide guidance for
determining which governmental activities, organizations, and functions should be included within the financial reporting entity.
GASB pronouncements set forth the financial accountability of a governmental organization's elected governing body as the basic
criterion for including a possible component governmental organization in a primary government's legal entity. Financial
accountability includes, but is not limited to, appointment of a voting majority of the organization's governing body, ability to
impose its will on the organization, and potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits or burdens and fiscal
dependency.

The District is not financially accountable for any other organization nor is the District a component unit of any other primary
governmental entity.

Government-wide and fund financial statements

The government-wide financial statements include the statement of net position and the statement of activities. These financial
statements include all of the activities of the District. Material interfund activity has been removed from these statements.
Governmental activities are normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues. 

The statement of net position reports all financial and capital resources of the District. The difference between the assets plus
deferred outflows of resources and the liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources is reported as net position.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

DEFINITION OF REPORTING ENTITY

Horizon Metropolitan District No. 2 ("District"), a quasi-municipal corporation and political subdivision of the state of Colorado, was
formed on December 29, 2005, and is governed pursuant to provisions of the Colorado Special District Act. The District was
organized for the acquisition and installation of streets and traffic signals, water, sewer, storm drainage, and park and recreation
facilities. The District’s service area is located entirely within the City of Aurora ("City"), in Arapahoe County, Colorado. The
District was organized in conjunction with other related districts, Horizon Metropolitan District No. 1 ("District No. 1"), Horizon
Metropolitan District No. 3 ("District No. 3"), and Horizon Metropolitan District Nos. 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10 (together with the
District, District No. 1, and District No. 3, the "Districts").

The District has no employees and all operational and administrative functions are contracted.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct and indirect expenses of a given function or segment are
offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program
revenues include charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges
provided by a given function or segment; and grants and contributions that are restricted to meet the operational or capital
requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items are properly excluded from program revenues and are
reported as general revenues.

Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement position

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis
of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the
timing of related cash flows.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified
accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered
to be available when they are collectable within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.
For this purpose, the District considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal
period. The major sources of revenue susceptible to accrual are property taxes. All other revenue items are considered to be
measurable and available only when cash is received by the District. Expenditures, other than interest on long-term obligations,
are recorded when the liability is incurred or the long-term obligation is due.

See independent auditor's report.

7

DRAFT

22

Draft



HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023

Interfund balances and transactions

The District reports interfund balances and transfers that are representative of lending and borrowing arrangements between
funds in the fund financial statements as due to other funds and due from other funds, respectively. The interfund balances have
been eliminated in the government-wide statements.

Property taxes, net of estimated uncollectable amounts, are recorded initially as deferred revenues in the year they are levied and
measurable. The deferred property tax revenues are recorded as revenues in the year they are available or collected.

Deferred inflows of resources

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position reports a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate
financial statement element represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized
as an inflow of resources (revenues) until that time. Accordingly, property taxes are deferred and recognized as an inflow of
resources in the period that the amounts become available.

Pooled cash and investments

The District follows the practice of pooling cash and investments of funds to maximize investment earnings. Except when required
by trust or other agreements, cash is deposited to and disbursed from a single bank account. Cash in excess of immediate
operating requirements is pooled for deposit and investment flexibility. Investment earnings are allocated periodically to the
participating funds based upon each fund's average balance.  

Property taxes

Property taxes are levied by the District's board of directors. The levy is based on assessed valuations determined by the County
Assessor generally as of January 1 of each year. The levy is normally set by December 15 and attaches as an enforceable lien as
of January 1 of the following year. The County Treasurer collects the taxes during the ensuing calendar year. The taxes are
payable by April or, at the taxpayer's election, in February and June in equal installments. Delinquent taxpayers are notified in
August and sales of tax liens on delinquent properties are generally held in November or December. The County Treasurer remits
the taxes collected to the District monthly.

The debt service fund accounts for the servicing of general long-term debt and revenues generated and received by the
District that are required to be used for repayment of debt.

Budgets

The District reports the following major governmental funds:

The general fund  accounts for all financial resources of the District except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

In accordance with state budget law, the District holds public hearings in the fall each year to approve the budget and appropriate
funds for the ensuing year. Total fund expenditures are appropriated. The District's board of directors can modify the budget by
line item within the total appropriation without notification. The appropriation can only be modified upon completion of notification
and publication requirements. The budget includes each fund on its basis of accounting unless otherwise indicated.

The District amended its annual budget for the year ended December 31, 2023.

See independent auditor's report.

8

DRAFT

23

Draft



HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023

Net position

The District has evaluated events subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2023 through the date of the attached
independent auditor's report, the date these financial statements were available to be issued.

Use of estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America ("US GAAP") requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and
disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Subsequent events

For fund presentation purposes, if more than one classification of fund balance is available for use when an expenditure is
incurred, it is the District's policy to use the most restrictive classification first.

The unassigned fund balance  is the residual portion of fund balance that does not meet any of the criteria described above.

The assigned fund balance is the portion of fund balance that is constrained by the government's intent to be used for specific
purposes, but is neither restricted nor committed. Intent is expressed by the board of directors to be used for a specific
purpose. Constraints imposed on the use of assigned amounts are more easily removed or modified than those imposed on
amounts that are classified as committed.

The committed fund balance is the portion of fund balance that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints
imposed by formal action of the government's highest level of decision-making authority, the board of directors. The constraint
may be removed or changed only through formal action of the board of directors.

The restricted fund balance is the portion of fund balance that is constrained to being used for a specific purpose by external
parties (such as bondholders), constitutional provisions, or enabling legislation.

The nonspendable fund balance is the portion of fund balance that cannot be spent because it is either not in spendable form
(such as prepaid amounts or inventories) or is legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

Net position and fund balances

For government-wide presentation purposes, when both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the
District’s practice to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

Fund balances

Fund balances for governmental funds are reported in classifications that comprise a hierarchy based on the extent to which the
government is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which spending can occur. Governmental funds report up
to five classifications of fund balance. Because circumstances differ among governments, not every government or every
governmental fund will present all of these components. The following classifications describe the relative strength of the
spending constraints:

See independent auditor's report.

9

DRAFT

24

Draft



HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023

3. 

1,222$             
377                  

1,599$             

1,599$             

1,599$             

Cash and investments - restricted

Investments

The District has not adopted a formal investment policy; however, the District follows state statutes regarding investments.

Colorado revised statutes limit investment maturities to five years or less unless otherwise formally approved by the board of
directors. Such actions are generally associated with a debt service reserve or sinking fund requirements.

Colorado statutes specify investment instruments meeting defined rating and risk criteria in which local governments may invest
which include: 

•  Certain international agency securities
•  General obligation and revenue bonds of US local government entities

Cash and investments as of December 31, 2023, are classified in the accompanying financial statements as follows:

The carrying amounts of cash and investments, which equal estimated fair value, as of December 31, 2023, are as follows:

Deposits with financial institutions

The Colorado Public Deposit Protection Act ("PDPA") requires that all units of local government deposit cash in eligible public
depositories. Eligibility is determined by state regulators. Amounts on deposit in excess of federal insurance levels must be
collateralized. The eligible collateral is determined by the PDPA. The PDPA allows the institution to create a single collateral pool
for all public funds. The pool for all the uninsured public deposits as a group is to be maintained by another institution or held in
trust. The market value of the collateral must be 102% of the aggregate uninsured deposits.

The state commissioners for banks and financial services are required by statute to monitor the naming of eligible depositories
and reporting of the uninsured deposits and assets maintained in the collateral pools.

As of December 31, 2023, the District had no cash deposits with financial institutions.

CASH AND INVESTMENTS

Statement of net position:

The District generally limits its concentration of investments to those below which are believed to have minimal credit risk, minimal
interest rate risk, and no foreign currency risk. The District is not subject to concentration risk disclosure requirements or subject
to investment custodial credit risk for investments that are in the possession of another party.

Cash and investments

Investments

•  Obligations of the US and certain US government agency securities

•  Bankers' acceptances of certain banks
•  Commercial paper
•  Written repurchase agreements collateralized by certain authorized securities
•  Certificates of deposit in Colorado PDPA approved banks or savings banks
•  Certain money market funds
•  Guaranteed investment contracts
•  Local government investment pools

See independent auditor's report.

10

DRAFT

25

Draft



HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023

Amount

1,222$             
Colorado Surplus Asset Fund (CSAFE) 377                  

1,599$             

As of December 31, 2023, the District had the following in investments:

Investment Maturity

Weighted average under 60 days

CSAFE CASH FUND, which operates similarly to a money market fund in which each share is equal in value to $1, offers daily
liquidity. CSAFE CASH FUND may invest in US Treasury securities, repurchase agreements collateralized by US Treasury
securities, certain money market funds, highest rated commercial paper, and any security allowed under CRS 24-75-601.

CSAFE CORE, a variable net asset value ("NAV") local government investment pool, offers weekly liquidity, and is managed to
approximate a $2 transactional share price. CSAFE CORE may invest in US Treasury securities and repurchase agreements
collateralized by US Treasury securities, certain obligations of US government agencies, and highest rated commercial paper.

A designated custodial bank serves as custodian for CSAFE's portfolios pursuant to a custodian agreement. The custodian acts
as safekeeping agent for CSAFE's investment portfolios and provides services as the depository in connection with direct
investments and withdrawals. The custodian's internal records segregate investments owned by CSAFE. CSAFE is rated AAAm
by FitchRatings. CSAFE records its investment at amortized cost and the District records its investments in CSAFE using the
amortized cost method. There are no unfunded commitments, the redemption frequency is daily or weekly, and there is no
redemption notice period.

Weighted average under 60 daysLiquid Asset Trust (COLOTRUST)

The District invested in the Colorado Surplus Asset Fund Trust ("CSAFE"), which is an investment vehicle established by state
statute for local government entities to pool surplus assets. The State Securities Commissioner administers and enforces all state
statutes governing CSAFE. CSAFE offers two portfolios: CSAFE CASH FUND and CSAFE CORE.

COLOTRUST PRIME and COLOTRUST PLUS+, which operate similarly to a money market fund in which each share is equal in
value to $1, offer daily liquidity. Both portfolios may invest in US Treasury securities and repurchase agreements collateralized by
US Treasury securities. COLOTRUST PLUS+ may also invest in certain obligations of US government agencies, highest rated
commercial paper, and any security allowed under CRS 24-75-601.

COLOTRUST EDGE, a variable net asset value ("NAV") local government investment pool, offers weekly liquidity and is
managed to approximate a $10 transactional share price. COLOTRUST EDGE may invest in US Treasury securities, repurchase
agreement collateralized by US Treasury securities, certain obligations of US government agencies, highest rated commercial
paper, and any security allowed under CRS 24-75-601.

A designated custodial bank serves as custodian for the Trust's portfolios pursuant to a custodian agreement. The custodian acts
as safekeeping agent for the Trust's investment portfolios and provides services as the depository in connection with direct
investments and withdrawals. The custodian's internal records segregate investments owned by the Trust. COLOTRUST PRIME
and COLOTRUST PLUS+ are rated AAAm by Standard & Poor's. COLOTRUST EDGE is rated AAAf/S1 by FitchRatings.
COLOTRUST records its investment at fair value and the District records its investment in COLOTRUST at NAV as determined
by fair value. There are no unfunded commitments, the redemption frequency is daily or weekly, and there is no redemption notice
period.

CSAFE

COLOTRUST

The District invested in the Colorado Local Government Liquid Asset Trust ("COLOTRUST" or "Trust"), an investment vehicle
established for local government entities in Colorado to pool surplus funds. The State Securities Commissioner administers and
enforces all state statutes governing the Trust. The Trust offers three portfolios: COLOTRUST PRIME, COLOTRUST PLUS+,
and COLOTRUST EDGE.

See independent auditor's report.

11

DRAFT

26

Draft



HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023

4.

Balance Repayments / Balance Due Within
01-01-23 Additions Amortization 12-31-23 One Year

25,247,000$    -$                 -$                 25,247,000$    -$                 

Series 2021A(3) Bonds 1,259,112        1,190,434        (624,169)          1,825,377        -                   

26,506,112      1,190,434        (624,169)          27,072,377      -                   

26,506,112$    1,190,434$      (624,169)$        27,072,377$    -$                 

Bonds payable:

The Series 2021A(3) Bonds are secured by and payable from the pledged revenue consisting of monies derived by the District
from the following sources, net of any collection costs: (i) the pledged property tax revenues; (ii) the senior capital revenue; (iii) the
portion of the specific ownership tax which is collected as a result of imposition of the required mill levy; and (iv) any other legally
available monies which the District determines to be treated as pledged revenue. Required mill levy means an ad valorem mill
levy imposed upon all taxable property of the District each year in an amount sufficient to pay the principal, premium if any, and
interest on the bonds as they become due and payable.

Accrued interest on 

Pursuant to the indenture, the District has covenanted to impose a required mill levy upon all taxable property of the District each
year in the amount of 50.000 mills (subject to adjustment for changes in the method of calculating assessed valuation or any
constitutionally mandated tax credit, cut, or abatement on or after January 1, 2004) or such lesser mill levy which, when combined
with District No. 3's senior tax revenue, will pay all of the principal of, premium if any, and interest on the Series 2021A(3) Bonds
in full.

Total bonds payable

Total long-term obligations

Governmental activities

Series 2021A(3) Bonds

The following is a summary of long-term debt of the District during the year ended December 31, 2023:

Pledged revenues

On August 11, 2021, the District issued Series 2021A(3) Limited Tax General Obligation and Special Revenue Bonds ("Series
2021A(3) Bonds") for the purpose of: (i) paying the project costs; and (ii) paying other costs incurred in connection with the
issuance of the bonds. The Series 2021A(3) Bonds were issued in the amount of $25,247,000; bear interest at 4.50% per annum,
calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months; are payable to the extent of pledged revenues available on
December 1 each year; and mature on December 1, 2051. The Series 2021A(3) Bonds are structured as cash flow bonds
meaning that there are no scheduled payments of principal or interest prior to the final maturity date. Unpaid interest on the Series
2021A(3) Bonds compounds annually on each December 1.

If any amount of principal or interest on the Series 2021A(3) Bonds remains unpaid after the application of all pledged revenue
available on December 1, 2061, such unpaid amount will be deemed discharged on December 2, 2061.

Series 2021A(3) Limited Tax General Obligation and Special Revenue Bonds

 LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

Property tax revenues are the property taxes derived from imposition by the District of the required mill levy, net of any fees and
collection costs of the County Treasurer and any tax refunds or abatements authorized by or on behalf of the county, which
revenues include (a) the pass-through tax revenue (generally meaning the portion of the property tax revenue derived from
imposition of the required mill levy which is allocable to the District’s incremental assessed valuation in excess of its base
assessed valuation) received from Aurora Urban Renewal Authority ("AURA") pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, and (b)
the property tax revenue allocable to the District’s base assessed valuation received directly from the County Treasurer.

See independent auditor's report.

12

DRAFT

27

Draft



HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023

Premium

3.00%
2.00%
1.00%
0.00%

i. 

The occurrence of any one or more of the following events or the existence of any one or more of the following conditions
constitutes an event of default under the indenture:

September 1, 2028 to August 31, 2029
September 1, 2029 and thereafter

The Series 2021A(3) Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the District, as a whole or in integral
multiples of $1,000, in any order of maturity and in whole or partial maturities, on September 1, 2026, and on any date thereafter,
upon payment of par, accrued interest, and a redemption premium on the principal amount redeemed, as follows:

Date of Redemption

September 1, 2026 to August 31, 2027
September 1, 2027 to August 31, 2028

ii. The District defaults in the performance or observance of any other of the covenants, agreements, or conditions on the part of
the District in the indenture or the bond resolution other than as described in (a) above, and fails to remedy the same after notice
thereof pursuant to the indenture, or District No. 3 defaults in the performance or observance of any other of the covenants,
agreements, or conditions on the part of District No. 3 in the capital pledge agreement, other than as described in (b) above, and
fails to remedy the same after notice thereof pursuant to the indenture; or

iii. The District files a petition under the federal bankruptcy laws or other applicable bankruptcy laws seeking to adjust the
obligation represented by the Series 2021A(3) Bonds.

(a) The District fails or refuses to impose the required mill levy or to apply the pledged revenue as required by the indenture, or 
(b) District No. 3 fails or refuses to impose the District No. 3 senior required mill levy or to apply the revenues resulting
therefrom as required by the capital pledge agreement;

Optional redemption

It is acknowledged that, due to the limited nature of the pledged revenue, the failure to pay the principal of or interest on the bonds
when due does not, in itself, constitute an event of default under the indenture.

The District No. 3 senior required mill levy is an ad valorem mill levy imposed upon all taxable property of District No. 3 each year
in the amount of 30.000 mills (subject to adjustment for changes in the method of calculating assessed valuation or any
constitutionally mandated tax credit, cut, or abatement on or after the date of issuance of the Series 2021A(3) Bonds) or such
lesser mill levy which, when combined with the District's senior tax revenue, will pay the principal of, premium if any, and interest
on the Series 2021A(3) Bonds in full. The maximum mill levy of 30.000 mills (as adjusted) is to be reduced by the number of mills
necessary to pay unlimited mill levy debt (none of which is currently outstanding).

The District's senior tax revenue is, when calculating the District's senior required mill levy for certification in any tax levy year, the
property tax revenue expected to be received in the related tax collection year as a result of the imposition by the District of the
required mill levy in that same tax levy year.

If the District's required mill levy or the District No. 3 senior required mill levy as calculated above is less than the maximum
number of mills which can be imposed, the District will compute its respective required mill levy using the senior mill levy
proportion. The senior mill levy proportion is (a) 35% as to District No. 3 and (b) 65% as to the District, being the respective
proportions of the maximum District No. 3 senior required mill levy and the maximum required mill levy (as adjusted) as of the
date of issuance of the Series 2021A(3) Bonds, each stated as a percentage, where the total of such two mill levies equals 100%.

Pursuant to a capital pledge agreement (Note 6) between the District, District No. 3, and the trustee, District No. 3 pledges senior
capital revenue to the trustee on behalf of the District for the purpose of paying and securing the Series 2021A(3) Bonds.

Events of default under the indenture

See independent auditor's report.

13

DRAFT

28

Draft



HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023

vii. District No. 3 commences proceedings for dissolution or consolidation with another metropolitan district during the term of the
capital pledge agreement; or

iii. District No. 3 fails to remit the capital revenue or any portion thereof as required by the terms of the capital pledge agreement;

vi. Any party to the capital pledge agreement materially fails in the performance of any other of its covenants in therein, and such
material failure continues for 60 days after receipt of written notice from the other party specifying such default and requiring the
same to be remedied;

The occurrence or existence of any one or more of the following events shall be an event of non-compliance under the capital
pledge agreement.

viii. any party to the capital pledge agreement will commence any case, proceeding, or other action (a) under any existing or
future law of any jurisdiction relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, or relief of debtors, seeking to have an order for
relief entered with respect to it or seeking to adjudicate it insolvent or a bankrupt or seeking reorganization, arrangement,
adjustment, winding up, liquidation, dissolution, composition, or other relief with respect to it or its debts, or (b) seeking
appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, or other similar official for itself or for any substantial part of its property, or any
party will make a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or (ii) commence any case, proceeding, or other action of a
nature referred to in clause (i) and the same will remain not dismissed within 90 days following the date of filing; or (iii) commence
any case, proceeding, or other action seeking issuance of a warrant of attachment, execution, distraint, or similar process against
all or any substantial part of its property which results in the entry of an order for any such relief which will not have been vacated,
discharged, stayed, or bonded pending appeal within 90 days from the entry thereof; or (iv) any party will take action in
furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of, or acquiescence in, any of the acts set forth in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above;
or (v) generally not, or will be unable to, or will admit in writing its inability to pay its debts as they become due.

v. District No. 3's pledge of the capital revenue for the purposes stated in the capital pledge agreement fails to be enforceable
with the priority required thereunder;

ii. District No. 3 fails or refuses to collect or enforce the collection of the capital revenue or any portion thereof;

iv. Any representation or warranty made by any party to the capital pledge agreement proves to have been untrue or incomplete in
any material respect when made and which untruth or incompletion would have a material adverse effect upon any other party to
the capital pledge agreement;

Events of non-compliance under the capital pledge agreement

i. District No. 3 fails or refuses to impose the capital mill levy or any component thereof; 

Upon the occurrence and continuance of an event of default, the trustee will have the following rights and remedies which may be
pursued:

i. Receivership - Upon the filing of a bill in equity or other commencement of judicial proceedings to enforce the rights of the
trustee and of the owners, the trustee is entitled as a matter of right to the appointment of receiver or receivers of the trust
estate, and of the revenues, income, product, and profits thereof pending such proceedings, subject however, to constitutional
limitation inherent in the sovereignty of the District; but notwithstanding the appointment of any receiver or other custodian, the
trustee will be entitled to the possession and control of any cash, securities, or other instruments at the time held by, or
payable or deliverable under the provisions of the indenture to the trustee.

ii. Suit for judgment - The trustee may proceed to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the owners by such suit,
action, or special proceedings as the trustee, being advised by counsel, deems appropriate.

iii. Mandamus or other suit - The owner may proceed by mandamus or any other suit, action, or proceeding at law or in equity,
to enforce its rights.

See independent auditor's report.

14

DRAFT

29

Draft



HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023

2010 Amended
Electoral Service Plan

Authorization Authorization

Amount authorized $9.75 billion  $750 million 

Authorization used:
Series 2021A(3) Bonds $25.25 million $25.25 million

Authorized but unissued indebtedness $9.28 billion  $724.75 million 

5.

4,300$             

 $             4,300 

6.

Effective January 18, 2006, and as amended and restated on August 23, 2010 the District entered into an intergovernmental
agreement with the City of Aurora in which the District agreed to dedicate public improvements to the City or other appropriate
jurisdiction or owners association and to maintain all public improvements which are not accepted for operation and maintenance
by the City or other public entity.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, acceleration will not be an available remedy for an event of default.

As of December 31, 2023, the District's debt authorized, authorization used, and amounts authorized but unissued are as follows:

 NET POSITION

The District has a deficit in unrestricted net position as of December 31, 2023. This deficit is the result of the District being
responsible for the repayment of bonds issued for public improvements, of which a significant portion were conveyed to other
governmental entities and which costs were removed from the District’s financial records.

Restricted net position includes balances with external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws and
regulations of other governments; or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. The District had a
restricted net position as of December 31, 2023 as follows:

Restricted net position:
Emergency reserve (Note 9)

On May 5, 2020, the District's voters authorized the issuance of indebtedness at an interest rate not to exceed 18%. The service
plan set the maximum debt mill levy at 50 mills less the number of mills to pay the unlimited mill levy debt, if any, for the portion of
any aggregate District debt that exceeds 50% of the District's assessed valuation, subject to adjustment. There is no mill levy cap
if the portion of any aggregate District's debt is equal to or less than 50% of the District's assessed valuation.

First Amended and Restated Intergovernmental Agreement between the District and the City of Aurora

AGREEMENTS

The District has net position consisting of restricted and unrestricted.

Debt authorization

Upon the occurrence and continuance of an event of non-compliance, any party may proceed to protect and enforce its rights
against the party or parties causing the event of non-compliance by mandamus or such other suit, action, or special proceedings
in equity or at law, in any court of competent jurisdiction, including an action for specific performance. In the event of any litigation
or other proceeding to enforce any of the terms, covenants or conditions hereof, the party in such litigation or other proceeding will
obtain, as part of its judgment or award, its reasonable attorneys' fees and costs.

See independent auditor's report.

15

DRAFT

30

Draft



HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023

7. RELATED PARTIES

Facilities, Funding, Construction, and Operation Agreement

To provide for the payment of the Series 2021A(3) Bonds, the District entered into a capital pledge agreement with District No. 3
and the trustee of the bonds dated August 11, 2021. Under this agreement, the District is to receive all of District No. 3's senior
capital revenue and agrees to remit the senior capital revenue to the trustee of the bonds as soon as practicable upon receipt in
accordance with the terms of the Series 2021A(3) Bonds indenture of trust. The District should apply such revenue, together with
all other pledged revenue (Note 4) in its possession, to the payment of the principal, premium if any, and interest on the bonds
due in accordance with the terms of the Series 2021A(3) Bonds indenture. The capital pledge agreement defines senior capital
revenue as the sum of the following: (a) the ad valorem property taxes derived from imposition of the District No. 3 senior required
mill levy, net of any fees and collection costs of the County Treasurer and any tax refunds or abatements authorized by or on
behalf of the county, which revenues include: (i) the senior pass-through tax revenue received by or on behalf of District No. 3
from AURA pursuant to the cooperation agreement, and (ii) the property tax revenue allocable to District No. 3's base assessed
valuation received directly from the County Treasurer; and (b) the specific ownership tax revenue allocable to the District No. 3
senior required mill levy.

The intergovernmental revenues are transferred from the District and District No. 3 to District No. 1. District No. 1 will coordinate
the payment of administrative expenditures for these districts as well as the District No. 1's own administrative expenditures.

Effective June 15, 2021, the District, District No. 1, and Horizon Metropolitan Districts Nos. 3 – 6 entered into a Cooperation
Agreement with the Aurora Urban Renewal Authority ("AURA"). Per the Cooperation Agreement, in consideration of the Districts
providing public improvements and services to the property in the service plan and Urban Renewal Plan, AURA agreed that the
portion of revenues it receives as a result of tax increment reveneus attributable to the Districts' current and future levy of ad
valorem taxes within the Urban Renewal Plan will be paid to the Districts within 15 days of receipt.

The Urban Renewal Plan

All of the property within the boundaries of the Districts is subject to the Horizon Uptown Urban Renewal Plan ("Urban Renewal
Plan"). The Urban Renewal Plan specifies, for the purposes of the Urban Renewal Law, that the Horizon Uptown Urban Renewal
Area ("Urban Renewal Area") encompasses all of Horizon Uptown (a larger mixed-use development that includes the Districts).
Until the expiration of the tax increment financing ("TIF") authorization on March 8, 2010, granted pursuant to the Urban Renewal
Plan, all property taxes resulting from imposition of ad valorem property taxes on the assessed valuation of all taxable property in
the Urban Renewal Area (which includes all of property within the boundaries of the Districts) in excess of the base assessed
valuation (incremental assessed valuation) are payable to the AURA pursuant to the Urban Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal
Law.

Cooperation Agreement

The developer of the property within the District is LendLease Horizon Holdings, LLC. The members of the board of directors are
officers, employees, or associated with the developer and may have conflicts of interest in dealing with the District.

Capital pledge agreement

Effective November 30, 2017, and as amended August 6, 2020, the District, District No. 1, and District No. 3 entered into the
Facilities Funding, Construction and Operation Agreement ("FFCO"). The FFCO establishes District No. 1's responsibility, as the
operating district, for constructing, designing, financing, and operating the public improvements that benefit the District, District
No. 1, and District No. 3, and establishes the District's and District No. 3’s obligations, as the taxing districts, to pay for the
services and benefits of the public improvements received from District No. 1. The FFCO further provides that District No. 1 will
own, operate, maintain, finance, and construct certain public improvements, and the District, District No. 1, and District No. 3 will
contribute to the costs of construction, operation, management, and maintenance of the public improvements. District No. 1 will
also provide for the operation, maintenance, and administrative services of the District, District No. 1, and District No. 3.

See independent auditor's report.

16

DRAFT

31

Draft



HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023

8.

9.

TABOR requires local governments to establish emergency reserves. These reserves must be at least 3% of fiscal year spending
(excluding bonded debt service). Local governments are not allowed to use the emergency reserves to compensate for economic
conditions, revenue shortfalls, or salary or benefit increases.

Spending and revenue limits are determined based on the prior fiscal year spending adjusted for allowable increases based upon
inflation and local growth. Fiscal year spending is generally defined as expenditures plus reserve increases with certain
exceptions. Revenues in excess of the fiscal year spending limit must be refunded unless the voters approve retention of such
revenues. On May 5, 2020, the District's voters approved a ballot issue allowing the District to retain all revenues.

*  *  *  *  *  *  * 

District management believes the District is in compliance with the provisions of TABOR. However, TABOR is complex and
subject to interpretation. Many of the provisions, including the interpretation of how to calculate fiscal year spending limits, will
likely require judicial interpretation.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, thefts of, damage to, or destruction of assets; errors or omissions;
injuries to employees; or acts of God.

The District is a member of the Colorado Special Districts Property and Liability Pool ("Pool"). The Pool is an organization created
by intergovernmental agreement to provide property, liability, public officials' liability, boiler and machinery, and workers'
compensation coverage to its members. Settled claims have not exceeded this coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.

The District pays annual premiums to the Pool for liability, property, and public officials' liability coverage. In the event aggregated
losses incurred by the Pool exceed amounts recoverable from reinsurance contracts and funds accumulated by the Pool, the Pool
may require additional contributions from the Pool members. Any excess funds which the Pool determines are not needed for
purposes of the Pool may be returned to the members pursuant to a distribution formula.

 TAX, SPENDING, AND DEBT LIMITATIONS

Article X, Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution, commonly known as the Taxpayer's Bill of Rights ("TABOR"), contains tax,
spending, revenue, and debt limitations which apply to the state of Colorado and all local governments within the state of
Colorado.

See independent auditor's report.

17

DRAFT

32

Draft



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

DRAFT

33

Draft



Actual Variance
REVENUES
Property taxes 963$                4,676$             959$                (3,717)$            
Property taxes - TIF 421,816           580,000           579,624           (376)                 
Specific ownership taxes 25,752             25,752             28,125             2,373               
Investment income 14                    14                    9,308               9,294               
Transfers from District No. 3 33,877             34,304             5,461               (28,843)            
Other revenue -                   12,378             -                   (12,378)            

Total revenues 482,422           657,124           623,477           (33,647)            

EXPENDITURES
County Treasurer fees 14                    14                    15                    (1)                     
Bond interest payments 482,408           664,986           624,169           40,817             

Total expenditures 482,422           665,000           624,184           40,816             

Excess of revenues over expenditures -                   (7,876)              (707)                 7,169               

Fund balance, beginning of year 7,876               

Fund balance, end of year 7,169$             

HORIZON METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NO. 2
DEBT SERVICE FUND - SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND 

BALANCE (BUDGET AND ACTUAL)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Original 
Budget Final Budget

The accompanying notes and independent auditor's report
should be read with these financial statements.

19

DRAFT

34

Draft


	Agenda
	4/3/2024 Meeting Minutes
	District Managers Report
	Unaudited Financials ending 3/31/2024



